
Wolfeboro Budget Committee     1 
August 3, 2023 Minutes 

TOWN OF WOLFEBORO  
BUDGET COMMITTEE 
APPROVED MINUTES 

August 3, 2023 
 
 
 
 

I. Call To Order 
Chairman MacDonald opened the meeting at 6:01 pm at the Wolfeboro Public Library. 

  
Members Present:  John MacDonald, Chairman, Bob Tougher, Vice-Chairman, Bob Loughman, Brian Black, 
Tom Bell, Bob Moholland, Paul O’Brien, Bobbi Boudman, Members, Brian Deshaies, BOS Representative, Linda 
Murray, BOS Alternate Representative. 

 
Member Absent: Matt Plache, Member (excused). 

 
Staff Present:  Jim Pineo, Town Manager, Kathy Carpentier, Finance Director, Lee Ann Hendrickson, 
Administrative Assistant. 

 
II. Pledge of Allegiance 

The Committee participated in the pledge of allegiance. 
 

III. Public Comment 
None. 
 

IV. Discussion Items 
Town Manager Report 

Budget Guidelines 
Jim Pineo stated the Budget Guidelines were distributed to the Committee. He stated there is a concern 
going forward with ambulance services; noting that Stewart’s Ambulance no longer wishes to provide 
services to the Town of Wolfeboro. He stated a preliminary discussion has occurred with regard to the 
Fire Department taking over the services; noting the Fire Chief will be making a presentation on August 16 
to the BOS. He stated there will be a series of public feedback sessions with the public. He stated 
Stewart’s Ambulance would commit to a one-year contract while the Town reviews its options. He stated 
the Friends of Pop Whalen made a donation of just shy of $2.1 million (committed to $2.7 million) and 
noted the BOS extended the agreement one year. He stated as contributions/grants are received the 
funds will be forwarded to the Town upon receipt.  
 
Referencing page 2 of the Budget Guidelines, Tom Bell questioned whether he (Town Manager) 
anticipates an 8.45% increase in the General Fund or 9.75%. 
 
Jim Pineo stated he is hoping to hold the budget below 9.75%. He stated the budget, without wage, fuel, 
gravel/sand/salt adjustments, is at an increase of 8.45%. 
 
Bob Loughman questioned the percentage of the tax rate calculation for the General Fund. 
 
Kathy Carpentier replied approximately 56%. 
 
Bob Loughman stated if the 8.45% increase continues over five years the General Fund budget will be $5M 
in 2027. He expressed concern for the future tax rate that continues to build. 
 
Paul O’Brien agreed with Mr. Loughman. 
 
 



Wolfeboro Budget Committee     2 
August 3, 2023 Minutes 

 
 
Bob Tougher disagreed with Mr. Loughman’s projections and noted that most of the expenses are 
mandatory spending. He noted the decrease in debt service going forward and does not believe the 
increases will continue. 

 
Capital Project Update 
Jim Pineo reviewed such, see attached. 
 
John MacDonald asked who is paying for the improvements to the Bridge Falls Path next to Seabird 
restaurant. 
 
Brian Deshaies replied the Rail Trail (Cotton Valley Rail Trail). 
 
Bobbi Boudman questioned warrant article #14 (Port Wedeln Drainage) and whether the increase was 
noted in a warrant article that the citizens approved. 
 
Jim Pineo stated the project is a public-private partnership; noting the roadway is a Town road and the 
water flow off the Town road has been washing out a private beach. He stated the private association is 
requesting certain work to be done to help prevent further issues. He stated the association proposed 
$100,000 for their portion of the work. He stated Stantec reviewed the Town’s work and informed the 
Town that the work being done would not resolve the issue and re-engineered the project. He stated 
there is a possibility of additional grant funding however, regardless the Town has to go back to the 
voters in 2024 and request additional funds. 

 
2023 Budget & Expenditure Report 
Kathy Carpentier stated the report forwarded to the Committee goes through June 30. She stated Pop 
Whalen had some emergency repairs and soft costs associated with its opening. She reviewed the following 
percentage expenditures; General Fund 69%, Water Fund 46%, Municipal Electric Fund 55%, Sewer Fund 82% 
and Pop Whalen Fund 62%. She noted the following collected revenue percentage of other funds; Water Fund 
77%, Municipal Electric Fund 51%, Sewer Fund 73% and Pop Whalen Fund 40%. She stated gas is at 37%, diesel 
63%, overtime 75%, and taxes 98%. 
 
Bob Tougher questioned the number of building permits that have been issued this year. 
 
Kathy Carpentier stated she does not know. 

 
Paul O’Brien requested access to any studies that are conducted. 
 
Jim Pineo stated the studies could be put on the website. 
 
Referencing charitable organizations, Paul O’Brien asked if the Budget Committee could meet jointly with the 
BOS to review the charitable organization requests for funding. 
 
John MacDonald stated the agencies have always been required to appear before the Budget Committee. 
 
It was moved by Paul O’Brien to hold a joint meeting with the BOS to review charitable organization funding 
requests. The motion was seconded by Bob Loughman. 
 
Discussion of the motion: 
Bob Tougher stated he is not in favor of such. 
 
Linda Murray stated the BOS review the requests at a regular meeting. 
 
 



Wolfeboro Budget Committee     3 
August 3, 2023 Minutes 

 
 
Brian Black stated the process has been occurring for years and the agencies expect to present their funding 
request to the Committee. 
 
John MacDonald stated the Budget Committee is a separate entity from the BOS and should remain such. 
 
Bob Tougher stated the Budget Committee has the final vote with regard to the funding requests and feels 
the process should remain the same. 

 
Kathy Carpentier stated the Budget Committee cannot vote on the agency funding requests until after the 
BOS presents their approved budget to the Committee. 
 
Bobbi Boudman – no, Bob Tougher – no, Tom Bell – no, John MacDonald – no, Bob Moholland – no, Brian Black 
– no, Bob Loughman – yes, Paul O’Brien – yes, Brian Deshaies – no.  The motion failed (7-2-0). 
 
Assignment Reviews/Updates of Town Department Budgets 
John MacDonald stated that if a member of the Committee has a request for a Department Head to forward 
the request to the Town Manager. 
 
Bob Tougher stated he attended the reception for the new Library Director. 
 

 
V. Other Business 

Letter to Planning Board re: CIP Process 
John MacDonald stated Bob Tougher forwarded a letter to the Planning Board following the CIP process 
discussion at the Budget Committee’s June meeting. 
 
Bob Tougher stated he is meeting with the CIP Committee on August 17 to discuss the matter. He read item #4 
of last year’s departmental guidelines as follows; “Continue the use of capital reserve accounts as a method to 
spread the cost of capital projects over multiple years.” He noted said guideline was approved by the BOS on 
6/16/2022. He stated at its 6/7/2023 meeting the BOS approved the Budget Guidelines for this year and item #4 
from last year was not removed from the guidelines. 
 
Linda Murray stated the CIP should include large capital reserve fund payments. 
 
Bob Tougher asked Ms. Murray if she recalls the guideline being removed. 
 
Linda Murray replied no. 
 
2024 Budget Review Meeting Schedule 
Jim Pineo asked to move the Police Department, Communications and Animal Control budgets to November 8 
and move Parks & Recreation budgets to November 14. 
 
Paul O’Brien asked when the discussion regarding ambulance services would occur. 
 
Jim Pineo replied during warrant article review. 
 
Paul O’Brien asked if Stewart’s Ambulance has provided input as to why they are no longer willing to serve the 
Town. 
 
Jim Pineo replied yes and noted a letter that was submitted by Stewart’s Ambulance to the BOS. He stated 
there was a time the ambulance service could make an offsetting revenue from inner facility transfers for 
Huggins Hospital to support two ambulances in Wolfeboro. He stated in the past several months in the State 
of NH there have been two ambulance agencies that have closed their doors. 



Wolfeboro Budget Committee     4 
August 3, 2023 Minutes 

 
 
Bobbi Boudman asked if Budget Committee members could attend the BOS meeting on August 16 and ask 
questions when Chief Zotti presents the proposal. 
 
Linda Murray replied yes. 
 
Paul O’Brien stated that he would like to understand the consequences of the decision that will be made; 
noting it is his responsibility as a Budget Committee member. 
 
John MacDonald asked who would be providing the inner facility transfers. 
 
Jim Pineo stated Stewart’s Ambulance has a contract with Huggins Hospital for such. 
 
Pine Hill Cemetery 
Bob Moholland asked that the dead trees at the Pine Hill Cemetery be removed. 
 
Jim Pineo stated those trees in addition to several others will be removed. 

 
 

VI. Approval of Minutes 
April 26, 2023 
 
It was moved by Tom Bell to approve the April 26, 2023 minutes as submitted. Bob Moholland seconded the 
motion. John MacDonald, Bob Tougher, Bobbi Boudman, Bob Loughman, Paul O’Brien, Brian Black, Bob 
Moholland, Tom Bell voted in favor. Brian Deshaies abstained. The motion passed (8-0-1). 

 
June 26, 2023 
 
It was moved by Paul O’Brien to approve the June 26, 2023 minutes as submitted. Bob Moholland seconded the 
motion. John MacDonald, Bob Tougher, Bobbi Boudman, Bob Loughman, Paul O’Brien, Brian Black, Bob 
Moholland, Tom Bell voted in favor. Brian Deshaies abstained. The motion passed (8-0-1). 
 

 
VII. Public Comment 

None. 
 
 

VIII. Adjournment 
 

It was moved by Paul O’Brien to adjourn the August 3, 2023 Budget Committee meeting. Bob Moholland 
seconded the motion. All members voted in favor. The motion passed. 
 
 
 

Next Budget Committee meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, October 24, 2023 at 6:00 PM, location to be 
determined. 

 
 

There being no further business before the Committee, the meeting adjourned at 7:03 PM. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Lee Ann Hendrickson 
Lee Ann Hendrickson 



Wolfeboro Budget Committee     5 
August 3, 2023 Minutes 

 
 
 



Wolfeboro Budget Committee     6 
August 3, 2023 Minutes 

 
 
 



Wolfeboro Budget Committee     7 
August 3, 2023 Minutes 

 


